#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

BETTY CHAN; and ASIAN AMERICAN REALTY & PROPERTY A. Brown MANAGEMENT,

**Electronically Filed** Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellants,

VS.

WAYNE WU; JUDITH SULLIVAN; NEVADA REAL ESTATE CORP.; and JERRIN CHIU,

Respondents.

#### APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from

the Eighth Judicial District Court sitting in Clark County, Nevada

District Court Case No.: A-16-744109-C

District Court Judge: Hon. Eric Johnson

R. DUANE FRIZELL, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 9807

FRIZELL LAW FIRM

400 N. Stephanie St., Suite 265 Henderson, Nevada 89014 Telephone (702) 657-6000 Facsimile (702) 657-0065 DFrizell@FrizellLaw.com

Attorney for Appellants

### **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This is an appeal of a final judgment—a summary judgment on the parties dueling motions, to be precise—in a case brought to the District Court under the Nevada Uniform Arbitration Act of 2000. As shown below, this judgment is final and appealable.

#### A. Basis for Supreme Court's or Court of Appeals' Jurisdiction.

In an arbitration case, "[a]n appeal may be taken from ... [a] *final judgment* entered pursuant to [the Nevada Uniform Arbitration Act of 2000]." NRS 38.247(1)(f) (emphasis added). Such an appeal "must be taken as from an order or a *judgment* in a civil action." NRS 38.247(2) (emphasis added). In a civil case, "[a]n appeal may be taken from ... A *final judgment* entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered." NRAP 3A(b)(1) (emphasis added).

Here, on November 23, 2020, the District Court entered an order on the parties' dueling motions for summary judgment. (7 Appx 1456). Under NRCP 54(b), the District "f[ound] no just reason for delay" and entered summary judgment "as a final order as to any and all claims and counterclaims between and among" the parties. (7 Appx 1461). Therefore, the District Court's summary

xiv

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Herein, the abbreviation "Appx" refers to volumes 1-7 of the *Appellants*' *Appendix*, which was filed more or less contemporaneously with this, *Appellants*' *Opening Brief*.

judgment is "final" and appealable for the purposes of NRS 38.247(1)(f) and NRAP 3A(b)(1). That is true, even though the District Court has yet to adjudicate Appellants' claims against an entity not a party to this appeal—KB Home Sales-Nevada Inc. *See* NRCP 54(b) ("[W]hen multiple parties are involved, the court may direct entry of a final judgment as to one or more, but fewer than all, ... parties only if the court expressly determines that there is no just reason for delay.").

#### B. Filing Dates Establishing the Timeliness of the Appeal

"In a civil case in which an appeal is permitted by law from a district court, ... a notice of appeal must be filed after entry of a written judgment or order, and no later than 30 days after the date that written notice of entry of the judgment or order appealed from is served." In the case at bar, on November 23, 2020, the District Court entered summary judgment and certified it as final under NRCP 54(b). (7 Appx 1456). On that same date, the notice of entry was filed and served. (7 Appx 1465, 1476). Within 30 days—on December 8, 2020—Appellants filed their notice of appeal. (7 Appx 1478). Later that same day, Appellants filed an amended notice. (7 Appx 1481). Appellants' notice and amended notice were both timely.

### C. Assertion of Appealable Order

Appellants hereby assert that, under NRS 38.247(1)(f), NRAP 3A(b)(1), and NRCP 54(b), this is an "appeal ... from a final order or judgment." NRAP 28(a)(4)(C).

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

It is possible that this case <u>might</u> be "presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals" because it <u>might</u> be construed as one "involving a contract dispute where the amount in controversy is less than \$75,000.00." NRAP 17(b)(6). Nevertheless, given that the doctrine of "procuring cause" is at the center of this case—and that issues relating to the doctrine routinely arise between and among real estate agents, brokers, and their clients—this case may "rais[e] as a principle issue a question of statewide public importance." NRAP 17(a)(12). Accordingly, this appeal may possibly be more properly routed to the Supreme Court. See id.

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Whether, given the legal doctrine of "procuring cause" and its tenet of singular exclusivity, the District Court erred in confirming an arbitration award that split a sales commission between two realtors.
- II. Whether the District Court erred in awarding Respondents attorney fees when, under the contract upon which it relied, express requirements were not satisfied.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### A. Nature of the Case.

In 2016, Plaintiffs-Appellants Betty Chan ("Chan") and Asian American Realty & Property Management ("Asian American") commenced this action.

Appellants brought claims arising out of the purchase of a home at Tevare at Summerlin ("Tevare"), a development of KB Home Las Vegas, Inc. ("KB Home"), by Defendant-Respondent Jerrin Chiu ("Respondent Chiu"). At its core, this case is a dispute to a \$13,795.32 real estate commission between Respondent Chiu's competing buyer's agents: Chan and Defendant-Respondent Wayne Wu ("Wu"). Defendants-Respondents Judith Sullivan ("Sullivan") and Nevada Real Estate Corp. ("NREC") were the broker and brokerage under which Wu operated.

Appellants initially attempted to take this case to arbitration before the Greater Las Vegas Associate of Realtors ("GLVAR"). GLVAR having initially considered the matter premature to arbitrate, Appellants filed this action in District Court. Eventually, GLVAR accepted the arbitration, and upon Appellants' motion in the District Court, arbitration was compelled, and the case stayed.

The GLVAR arbitration panel found in favor of both Appellants and Respondents. Specifically, the panel *split* the commission between them, with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> KB Home was a party below but is not a party to this appeal. The District Court certified its last order as final as between Appellants and Respondents, which do not include KB Home. (7 Appx 1461).

Chan taking the lesser share of \$3,448.83 (about 25%) and Wu taking the greater share of \$10,346.49 (approximately 75%).

After arbitration, the stay was lifted, and the case proceeded in District Court. Appellants moved to vacate the arbitration award. Respondents opposed and filed a countermotion to affirm the award and grant them attorney fees and court costs. The District Court denied Appellants' motion and granted Respondents' countermotion. It awarded Respondents \$21,435.00 in attorney fees and \$920.83 in court costs.

Appellants then took their first appeal of this matter, which was dismissed for lack of a final judgment and therefore appellate jurisdiction. After the prior appeal was dismissed, the District Court considered dueling motions for summary judgment on Respondents' counterclaim for abuse of process. The District Court ruled in favor of Appellants but awarded Respondents' additional attorney fees in the amount of \$35,630.00. The present appeal then followed.

### **B.** Course of the Proceedings.

On July 11, 2016—within 180 days of the close of the sale—Appellants attempted to take the matter to GLVAR "to comply with the rules ... to go to arbitration first."<sup>2</sup> (6 Appx 1232). Unfortunately, GLVAR considered the matter

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Before GLVAR, Respondents admitted that "Chan had until July 20, 2016 to file a request for arbitration." (1 Appx 66; 2 Appx 304-05).

premature because no sales commission had been distributed. As the situation could have remained that way indefinitely, Appellants had no choice but to file suit. (6 Appx 1201).

On September 27, 2016, Appellants filed their complaint in the District Court below. (1 Appx 1). After the sale closed, Appellants were allowed to submit the matter to arbitration with GLVAR. Therefore, on November 9, 2016, Appellants filed with GLVAR their request and agreement to arbitrate." (1 Appx 184-88).

Subsequently, Appellants filed their amended complaint in the lawsuit. (1 Appx 11). Respondents filed an answer and counterclaim. (1 Appx 39; 2 Appx 301). Appellants filed a reply to counterclaim. (1 Appx 56). Appellants later filed an amended counterclaim reply. (1 Appx 132).

In the meantime, on January 13, 2017, because the GLVAR case had finally been opened and Respondents had finally made an appearance in the lawsuit, Appellants filed a motion to stay proceedings pending GLVAR arbitration. (1 Appx 61; 2 Appx 302). Respondents opposed that motion. Their opposition included a countermotion to dismiss or render summary judgment in their favor. (1 Appx 66; 2 Appx 302).

On March 30, 2017, the District Court entered its order granting the motion to stay and denying the motion to dismiss and for summary judgment. Therein, the

District Court ordered arbitration among Appellants and Respondents Wu, Sullivan, and NREC. The lawsuit was otherwise stayed. (1 Appx 154). Nearly four months later, on July 25, 2017, Wu, Sullivan, and NREC finally got around to filing their response and agreement to arbitrate with GLVAR. (2 Appx 290).

This matter came for hearing before a GLVAR arbitration panel on April 17, 2018. The panel heard evidence and argument of the parties and found that of the \$13,795.32 in commission, Wu was to be paid \$10,346.49 and Chan paid \$3,448.83. *The panel made no findings of fact*. (2 Appx 390, 394; 4 Appx 816).

On May 17, 2018, in a timely fashion, Appellants notified GLVAR of their "legal challenge"—specifically, their intent to vacate the arbitration award. (3 Appx 460, 482; 6 Appx 1230). The case then proceeded in District Court, where the stay was lifted.

### C. Disposition in the Court Below.

After arbitration, on September 18, 2018, the District Court entered its order denying Appellants' motion to vacate or modify arbitration award. (3 Appx 691). In its order, the District Court confirmed the arbitration award. (3 Appx 693). The notice of entry of this order was filed on September 18, 2018 and subsequently served on September 21, 2018. (4 Appx 695, 702).

On March 22, 2019, the District Court entered its order granting

Respondent's countermotion for summary judgment on all of Appellants' claims

and for attorney fees and costs. (4 Appx 816). The District Court also awarded Respondents \$21,435.00 in attorney fees and \$920.83 in court costs. (4 Appx 822). The notice of entry of this order was filed on March 22, 2019 and served later on March 25, 2019. (4 Appx 823, 832).

On April 22, 2019, without the benefit of counsel, Appellants filed their first notice of appeal in this matter. (4 Appx 860). On May 14, 2020, the Supreme Court dismissed that appeal (Case No. 78666) for lack of a final judgment and therefore appellate jurisdiction. On June 8, 2020, the Supreme Court issued its remittitur, which the District Court received on June 9, 2020. (5 Appx 1090).

On November 23, 2020, the District Court entered its order granting in part Respondents' motion for summary judgment, or in the alternative, for contractual award of attorney's fees, for writ of execution on Appellants' commissions awarded by GLVAR arbitration panel, and release of bond deposited on appeal and order granting Appellants' countermotion for summary judgment. (7 Appx 1456). In that order, the District Court ruled that "Defendants' request for summary judgment that Ms. Chan committed an abuse of process is DENIED" and that "Plaintiffs' request for summary judgment that Ms. Chan did not commit an abuse of process is GRANTED." (7 Appx 1460). Despite the fact that Respondents lost on that counterclaim, the District Court awarded them an additional \$35,630.00 in attorney fees. (7 Appx 1459). Pursuant to NRCP 54(b), the District Court further

certified its order as final as between Appellants and Respondents. (7 Appx 1461). The notice of entry of that order was both filed and served on November 23, 2020. (7 Appx 1465, 1476).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Appellant Betty Chan ("Chan") has been a licensed Real Estate Broker in Nevada since 1993 (License No. 25444). She has never been disciplined by the Nevada Real Estate Division. (4 Appx 729).

In about August 2013, Chan and Respondent Chiu began an ongoing professional relationship, with Chan as realtor and Respondent Chiu as buyer. (1 Appx 40; 1 Appx 12, 40). On January 24, 2014, Respondent Chiu signed a "Duties Owed by a Nevada Real Estate Licensee," on which he acknowledged that Chan was his formal real estate agent. (2 Appx 251, 309, 389). In his answer, "Respondent Chiu admits that ... Chan showed him some homes" in 2014. (1 Appx 12, 40). In fact, on March 18, 2014, Respondent Chiu purchased a condominium, which Chan showed him. (1 Appx 205). After that, Chan maintained contact with Respondent Chiu about his condo and maintenance issues. (1 Appx 205).

On November 2, 2014, eight months after Respondent Chiu closed on his condo, he emailed Chan and informed her that he wanted to look for a second home. A few weeks later, on November 19, 2014, Chan underwent a kidney

transplant. Respondent Chiu's father, Dr. Kwang Chiu ("Dr. Kwang Chiu" or "Dr. Chiu"),<sup>3</sup> regularly called Chan and advised her as to how to take care of her health. (1 Appx 192).

In his answer, "Respondent Chiu admits that," a few months later, "Dr. Kwang Chiu contacted ... Chan on or about March 2015 to make an appointment for him and his son, Defendant ... to see homes in 2015...." (1 Appx 40). On March 30, 2015, Chan updated Respondent Chiu's loan pre-approval letter before they started looking for the second home. (1 Appx 41, 193). Chan worked with Respondent Chiu and Dr. Chiu to find houses. (1 Appx 193).

On April 2-14, 2015, Respondent Chiu and Chan exchanged emails about the house search. (1 Appx 215-18). On April 10, 2015, Respondent Chiu signed another "Duties Owed by a Nevada Real Estate Licensee," on which he acknowledged that he had formally retained Chan to be his real estate agent once again. (2 Appx 252, 309, 388). Afterwards, Respondent Chiu and Chan texted each other and looked at properties together. (2 Appx 256-64).

On about April 18, 2015, Respondent Chiu got into a traffic accident, was injured, and emailed Chan about it; however, he continued to inquire as to news on the home search, and he and Chan continued to text each other. (1 Appx 193, 220-22, 264-66). Later, because of the accident, Respondent Chiu decided to use his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Dr. Chiu is not a party to this action.

money to purchase a new automobile; so, he put the home search on pause. (1 Appx 193).

On May 11, 2015, Respondent Chiu emailed Chan that his condo had a leak and might have a mold problem. Chan advised him as to how to proceed. (1 Appx 193).

On July 18, 2015, Chan emailed and texted Respondent Chiu to check up on him and to see how he was recovering from his injury. He said he needed surgery and that if he decided to remain in Las Vegas, he would need her help to continue his home search. (1 Appx 193; 2 Appx 266-68).

On October 2, 2015, Dr. Kwang Chiu call Chan, told her he would be in town on December 30, 2015, and specifically requested that she show him and Respondent Chiu houses then. They scheduled to meet on December 30 at 10:00 a.m. Chan asked Respondent Chiu to provide updated financials to update his loan pre-approval. (1 Appx 41, 193).

On November 2-3, 2015, Respondent Chiu and Chan exchanged emails. He reminded her of their upcoming appointment on December 30 and listed out his criteria and budget for a home. Respondent Chiu informed Chan that they wanted to view homes on three days: *December 30, December 31, and January 1*.

Despite the holidays, Chan confirmed, stating "Thank you for using my service again." (1 Appx 193, 210-14, 229-30; 2 Appx 294, 312, 314, 316).

On November 18-29, 2015, Respondent Chiu and Chan exchanged emails about the home search. (1 Appx 42, 194; 2 Appx 231-33, 294). On Tuesday, December 29, 2015, in preparation for her showing homes to Respondent Chiu, Chan researched properties available at that exact time, compared them to his criteria and budget, and identified potential older homes in the Summerlin area. Chan also found Tevare, a new development in Summerlin by KB Home. (1 Appx 194; 2 Appx 241-49).

On Wednesday, December 30, 2015, Chan and Respondent Chiu began texting at 7:34 a.m. (2 Appx 268-69). Later that morning, Chan picked up Respondent Chiu, his girlfriend, and his parents at his condo. Since Respondent Chiu was interested in the Summerlin area, she showed them some older homes there. (1 Appx 41, 194; 2 Appx 294-95, 316).

Later that same day, December 30, even though it was outside of Chiu's parameters and specified area of interest, *Chan encouraged and convinced Chiu to tour the new construction homes at the Tevare*. (2 Appx 249). Chan then took everyone there, where they looked at three modular homes and their respective floorplans. Respondent Chiu and his girlfriend were so excited to see Model 2 that they did not want to leave. (1 Appx 42-43, 195; 2 Appx 295; 4 Appx 731). As with any new development, at Tevare, KB Home would not negotiate price and would not give out any special incentives to buyers. (1 Appx 202).

Based on the availability shown on a computer screen at the Tevare office, KB Home only had two lots left that were approved for Model 2: Lot 37 and Lot 43. As is common with new developments, at Tevare, KB Home had already predetermined which lots would go with which models. Having opted for Model 2, Respondent Chiu could not select any location other than Lot 37 or Lot 43. Later, it was discovered that as of December 31, 2015, Lot 37 had already sold and only Lot 43 was available for Model 2. (1 Appx 202; 2 Appx 249; 3 Appx 610; 4 Appx 722-23, 731). Respondent Chiu agreed to Lot 43. That was the lot he purchased—the only lot he could purchase. (2 Appx 295, 298, 322-23).

At the time, Respondent Chiu had had no experience purchasing a new home. Therefore, Chan spent extra time explaining to him pricing differentials based on house elevation, the location of the lot, upgrades, and so forth.

Respondent Chiu and Chan completed a registration card for KB Home and left it in KB's office.<sup>4</sup>

As it was late in the day, Chan offered to take Respondent Chiu and his parents to get a quick bite to eat and then to go back and check out the lots that were still available. They declined because Dr. Chiu was in a hurry for some other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> KB Home subsequently lost the card. (1 Appx 198-200; 2 Appx 273-80, 284-88). Subsequently, Chan had multiple communications with KB Home and its attorney about the matter. (1 Appx 200; 2 Appx 273-83, 284-288, 300, 355-356).

matter. Chan then drove them all back to Respondent Chiu's condo. (1 Appx 195-96).

Unbeknownst to Chan, less than 24 hours later, in the morning of Thursday, December 31, 2015, Respondent Chiu and his parents returned to the Tevare site. (2 Appx 296). While there, Respondent Chiu made an earnest money deposit of \$10,000.00 on Lot 43. (2 Appx 296-97, 316). Respondent Chiu was told that he could cancel the sale and receive a refund for up to 14 days. (2 Appx 297, 316-17). Respondent Chiu did not inform Chan that he was returning to Tevare site; nor did he meet any other real estate agent there, including Wu. (2 Appx 351). Respondent Chiu admits that he went there "without the assistance of any broker." (3 Appx 469).

At around 2:00 p.m. that same day, Dr. Chiu called Chan and asked if she would give Respondent Chiu a kickback of 1.00% of the commission from the sale of the Tevare home, like another agent had offered them.<sup>5</sup> As a matter of practice, Chan did not give kickbacks, but as a return favor for his genuine care of her health and the ongoing business relationship that they had had over the years, she offered a 0.25% reduction if she could also handle Respondent Chiu's loan. (1 Appx 196, 201; 6 Appx 1199).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> At the GLVAR hearing, Wu testified that he had never offered to reduce his commission in this manner. Nevertheless, Dr. Chiu never told Chan that Wu was the agent to whom he was referring. (3 Appx 474).

In the GLVAR proceeding, Respondents did not rebut that Dr. Chiu and Chan had this conversation. In fact, during that proceeding, Chan produced an AT&T bill proving Dr. Chiu's call at the time as well as a sworn affidavit from Chan's daughter, an attorney, who could hear Chan's responses in that conversation. In their answer in the District Court, Respondents stated that they "were without sufficient knowledge as to the truth of the[se] matters alleged." (1 Appx 14, 44). Respondents did admit, however, that Dr. Chiu called Chan that day. (2 Appx 317).

On New Year's Day, Friday, January 1, 2016, Dr. Chiu posted on City-Data.com: "Had a previous post about living in Tevare/Paseo village but didn't have my replies. I guess my follow up question is *the home I am looking for is made by KB Home* which have gotten many bad reviews in previous years. Can anyone give any insight whether they are okay to buy now?" (2 Appx 320).

As noted, Respondent Chiu previously emailed Chan that he and his parents wanted her to be available for them on <u>December 30, December 31, and January 1</u>. (1 Appx 193, 210-214; 2 Appx 229-30, 294, 312, 314, 316). In fact, Dr. Chiu told Chan that he would be leaving Las Vegas on January 2, 2016. (1 Appx 297).

Respondents admit that on Sunday, January 3, 2016, at about 1:40 p.m., Dr. Chiu called Wu. (2 Appx 298). Less than an hour later, on about 2:30 p.m. that day, Dr. Chiu called and left Chan a voicemail message. (1 Appx 197; 2 Appx

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