1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA	
2	CASE NO. 82208	
3	Electronically Filed BETTY CHAN; and ASIAN AMERICAN REALTY & PROPERTY ADD 35 2022 03:02 p.r	
4	Elizabeth A. Brown	m.
5	Appellants, Clerk of Supreme Cou	urt
6	vs.	
7	WAYNE WU; JUDITH SULLIVAN; NEVADA REAL ESTATE CORP.; and JERRIN CHIU,	
8	Respondents.	
9 10		
11		
12	APPELLEES' ANSWERING BRIEF AND OPENING BRIEF ON CROSS-APPEAL (AMENDED)	
13		
14		
15	Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court in Clark County, Nevada	
16	District Court Case: A-16-744109-C	
17	District Court Judge: Honorable Eric Johnson	
18	BLACKROCK LEGAL, LLC

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

## <u>attorney's fees incurred obtaining such confirmation and</u> <u>enforcement</u>.<sup>25</sup>

enforcement. <sup>25</sup>
Pursuant to the Agreement to Arbitrate, an arbitration was held before the GLVAR
on or about April 17, 2018. The Arbitration Panel, consisting of three arbitrators,
awarded Chan with twenty-five percent, or \$3,448.83 of the \$13,795.32
commission. The remainder was awarded to Wu.
Notwithstanding her consent to the arbitration and the rules governing the
same, Chan has since repudiated the Award. On May 17, 2018, the last day for
Chan to seek procedural review of the arbitration, she defiantly declared "I will not
engage [in] a procedur[al] review with GLVAR " <sup>26</sup> After a diatribe of
purported procedural deficiencies—which Chan refused to actually raise before the
GLVAR—Chan openly criticized the GLVAR.
I am totally disappointed GLVAR has not changed a bit since my first
arbitration 25 years ago. For whatever happened in the arbitration hearing, I could not trust GLVAR would be capable of providing a professional
hearing any more. As such, I resort to legal action to fight for my
obligations. I want that to be a known public record. <sup>27</sup>
Following that binding decision, Chan continued her litigious activities and
sought to overturn the decision of the Arbitration Panel. The district court found
sought to overtain the decision of the Aronation I anei. The district court found
the arbitration binding on August 22, 2018, and signed the Order Denying the
<sup>25</sup> 1 Appx 183 – 2 Appx 288, P0001, ¶ 5 (emphasis added).
$^{26}$ 3 Appx 460 – 64.
<sup>27</sup> 3 Appx 460 – 64.
15

Motion to Vacate on September 18, 2018. <sup>28</sup> Chan again petitioned for the Court to overturn the Arbitration Award and again her request was struck down on October 31, 2018, when the Court granted the Respondents' request for Summary Judgment and took their request for an Award of Attorneys' Fees and Costs under advisement. On March 22, 2019, the district court also issued the Order Granting Defendant's Countermotion for Summary Judgment and Attorney Fees and Costs.<sup>29</sup>

Chan then attempted to appeal the September 18, 2018, order months after her window for an appeal had passed. This Court elected to dismiss Chan's appeal for multiple reasons. On May 14, 2020, this Court issued an *Order Dismissing Appeal* (5 Appx 1085 - 89). This Court listed several reasons why the appeal should be dismissed: 1) the March 22, 2019 Order cannot be appealed under NRS 38.247(1)(c); 2) the March 22, 2019 Order was not a final order, and 3) there is "no statute or court rule allow[ing] an appeal from an order declaring someone to be a procuring cause."<sup>30</sup> This Court also correctly ruled that Chan's attempted appeal of the September 18, 2018 Order was untimely.

Following this Court's decision to dismiss the matter, Appellees filed their *Motion for Summary Judgment, or in the Alternative, for Contractual Award of* 

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> | <sup>28</sup> 4 Appx 691 – 94, Order Denying Motion to Vacate or Modify Arbitration Award, Sep, 18, 2018.
 <sup>29</sup> 4 Appx 816 – 22.
 <sup>30</sup> 5 Appx 1085 – 89.

GLVAR Arbitration Panel, and Release of Bond Deposited on Appeal seeking summary judgment on their claim of abuse of process and an award of additional attorney's fees and costs pursuant to the Agreement to Arbitrate (see 1 Appx 183 -2 Appx 288). Chan responded with her Plaintiffs' Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, or in the alternative, for Contractual Award of Attorney's Fees, for Writ of Execution on Plaintiff's Commissions Awarded by GLVAR Arbitration Panel and Release of Bond Deposited on Appeal, and Countermotion for Summary Judgment on Defendants' Abuse-of-Process Counterclaim. On July 21, 2020, the Honorable Eric Johnson entertained the pleadings and entered an order on November 23, 2020 (hereafter "Final Order," see 7 Appx 1456 - 64). The Final Order granted summary judgment against Appellees' claim for abuse of process and awarded additional attorney's fees against Chan for her continuing pursuit of her meritless claims.

These results have not phased Chan, who has now incurred tens of thousands of dollars more in attorney's fees and costs than the initial commission was worth. Chan claims she is fighting a battle for justice, even going to the lengths of comparing herself to Thurgood Marshall in Brown v. Board of Education. In reality, Chan is seeking retribution for her bruised ego and trying to fulfill her

1

2

3

4

prophetic statement that she would "teach [Appellees] a lesson."<sup>31</sup> Teaching a lesson is NOT proper grounds for initiating and pursuing baseless litigation after having lost a mandatory arbitration hearing.

It is Appellee's position that the district court erred in granting summary judgment against Appellees on the abuse of process claim. Chan openly admitted that it wasn't about the commission but that she wanted to financially punish Wu with this litigation. She even called it a game and indicated that while she would name KB in order to "justify" filing in district court, she never had any intention of pursuing a claim against KB. Chan knew that she had to name KB in order to give her an excuse to file in district court when she was contractually and ethically bound to litigate the commission issue through mandatory arbitration before a panel established by the GLVAR. The lawsuit itself is nothing but a rouse intended to drive up costs of litigation and to teach the Appellees a lesson.<sup>32</sup> Her wounded pride has propelled this litigation for nearly five years. She has used the legal system to financially abuse the Appellees, who have now incurred several times more in attorney's fees and costs than the initial commission which was split by the arbitration panel. Despite these facts, Chan asserts that she is fighting against an injustice, like the great civil rights activists of the 1960s. The District Court outright stated that comparing Chan to Thurgood Marshall was offensive and

 $\begin{bmatrix} 27\\ 28 \end{bmatrix}^{31} \text{See 1 Appx } 183 - 2 \text{ Appx } 288.$ 

that Ms. Chan represented the worst of litigants. Specifically, the District Court found, in the November 23, 2020 Order (See 7 Appx 1456 - 64), that "Ms. Chan represents the worst of litigation[.]"<sup>33</sup> It is offensive. Chan is not fighting an injustice. She is desperately trying to lick her wounded ego by abusing the legal system. Her claims should be denied and the dismissal of the abuse of process should be reversed. Finally, the awards of attorney's fees and costs should be affirmed, as the *Agreement to Arbitrate*, which Chan signed, clearly provides for an award of attorney's fees and costs incurred seeking to enforce the arbitration award.

Lastly, it is important to note that Appellees have filed a *Motion to Dismiss Second Appeal* (hereafter "MTD") in this matter. The MTD lays out the clear and obvious reasons why this Court should not entertain Chan's appeal. First and foremost, Chan failed to timely appeal the order confirming the arbitration award. The *Order Denying Motion to Vacate or Modify Arbitration Award* was filed and served on or about September 18, 2018. Appellant did not file her first *Notice of Appeal* until April 22, 2019, well beyond the 30-day time limit granted by NRAP 4(a)(1). The second *Notice of Appeal* was filed on December 14, 2020. Again, this is well beyond the deadline imposed by NRAP 4(a)(1). Additionally, as this Court wisely pointed out, "no statute or court rule allows an appeal from an order

 $_{8}$  3<sup>3</sup> 7 Appx 1456 - 64 at 2:20.

1

2

3

4

declaring someone to be a procuring cause."<sup>34</sup> Absent a statutory pathway, Chan should not be permitted to maintain an appeal. Finally, *res judicata* blocks Ms. Chan's <u>second</u> attempt to appeal the sufficiency of the arbitration award as well as the procuring cause issue. Appellees believe that this appeal should be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction, however, Appellees hereby present their answering brief and opening brief for the cross-appeal.

## **ARGUMENT FOR CROSS-APPEAL**

## I. <u>STANDARD OF REVIEW – A DISTRICT COURT'S GRANTING OF</u> <u>SUMMARY JUDGMENT IS REVIEWED *DE NOVO*</u>

The Supreme Court of Nevada "reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo, without deference to the findings of the lower court."<sup>35</sup> Furthermore, the Supreme Court of Nevada, "when reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the evidence, and any reasonable inferences drawn from it, must be viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party."<sup>36</sup> Therefore, this Court must review the decision to grant summary judgment on Cross-Appellants' abuse of process claim *de novo* and must view all evidence in the light most favorable to Cross-Appellants.

 $3^{4}$  See 3 Appx 503 – 30.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 P. 3d 1026, 1029 (2005), citing to GES, Inc. v. Corbitt, 117 Nev. 265, 268, 21 P.3d 11, 13 (2001) (citing Caughlin Homeowners Ass'n v. Caughlin Club, 109 Nev. 264, 266, 849 P.2d 310, 311 (1993)).
 <sup>36</sup> Id, citing to Lipps v. Southern Nevada Paving, 116 Nev. 497, 498, 998 P.2d 1183, 1184 (2000) (citing Butler v. Bogdanovich, 101 Nev. 449, 451, 705 P.2d 662, 663 (1985)).

II.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

17

21

25

## **CHAN'S ACTIONS CONSTITUTE AN ABUSE OF PROCESS**

Chan's conduct and her own admissions have demonstrated that she did not initiate the lawsuit in good faith, but rather to harass defendants and punish them. To establish a valid claim for abuse of process, one must establish "(1) an ulterior purpose [...] other than resolving a legal dispute, and (2) a willful act in the use of the legal process not proper in the regular conduct of the proceeding."<sup>37</sup> To successfully obtain motion for summary judgment on an abuse of process claim, the moving party must "present specific facts that [the nonmoving party] had an ulterior purpose in the underlying lawsuit, other than resolving [their] legal dispute [...] and improperly used the legal process to accomplish that purpose."<sup>38</sup> Chan has already admitted that she has an ulterior motive for filing her

15 lawsuit. In her email located at 3 Appx 671 - 72, she states that she "felt insulted 16 and humiliated, another agent dared challenge me and he really do not know who I am."<sup>39</sup> She continues: "I liked to teach them a lesson. Life is not about 18 19 money. So happen i do have few hundred thousand in hand that i can use. If 20 they are willing to go along with me to spend equal amount of money, then I will be very happy to play their game."40 In her own words, she has admitted that she 22 23 filed the lawsuit, not because of a valid legal dispute, but because she wanted to 24

<sup>8</sup> Id at 31, 880. 27 3 Appx 671 -3 Appx 671 -28

<sup>26</sup> <sup>37</sup> LaMantia v. Redisi, 118 Nev. 27, 30, 38 P.3d 877, 879 (2002).

avenge her pride and teach the Defendants a lesson. She even talks about how she has enough money to carry a lawsuit and make them pay attorney's fees to keep up with her. This is a clear ulterior motive, and Chan cannot point to any specific fact on the record to indicate otherwise. Indeed, her conduct during the lawsuit has also been vexatious and improper. This weighs against the District Court's decision to dismiss the abuse of process claim by way of summary judgment. In reality this is a textbook example of abuse of process!

Chan improperly used the legal system to accomplish her ulterior motive. First, she fraudulently represented that she possessed a broker registration card identifying her as Dr. Chiu's agent. This was not true, yet Chan alleges in her initial complaint that "Plaintiff Chan located a buyer registration card and Defendant Chiu filled in the buyer portion and Plaintiff Chan filled in the realtor portion."<sup>41</sup> Chan never had such a card, yet she continued to claim that she did, to the point of including it in her original complaint and trying to take the commission by claiming she possessed the card. Not only did Chan misrepresent the existence of the buyer registration card, but she also filed this lawsuit in contravention of her responsibility to seek arbitration through GLVAR. She filed this civil suit prior to seeking resolution through arbitration, and only agreed to stay the case when Defendants threatened her with sanctions. She also breached the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> See Chan's *Complaint* at 3:24-25, 1 Appx 1-10.

2

3

Agreement to Arbitrate, in which she specifically agreed to abide by the arbitration award. Her conduct during the litigation has been inappropriate and has only served as evidence of her desire to run-up costs and punish the Defendants. She has propagated this litigation, at the expense of tens of thousands of dollars, yet she can only recover, at most, the \$13,000.00 commission held by GLVAR. This court has even entered an award of attorney's fees against Chan.

Chan's intentions have been clear from the beginning: vengeance on those who dared cross her. She has used the assistance of five different law firms to accomplish this task. The matter has been before the GLVAR Arbitration panel, the district court and now the Supreme Court of Nevada for a second time. Chan is the posterchild of one who abuses the legal system to accomplish her own ulterior motive. The district court erred by granting summary judgment on the abuse of process claim. Clearly, there was at least "a factual dispute [that would allow] a rational trier of fact could return a verdict" finding abuse of process.<sup>42</sup> In fact, Chan's statements of wanting to punish Appellees constitutes direct evidence of abuse of process. No evidentiary hearing should be necessary given Chan's own statement that she intended to use the legal system to cause Appellees to incur hundreds of thousands in legal fees.43 However, the Court granted summary judgment against Appellees, dismissing their abuse of process claim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 731, 121 P.3d 1026, 1031 (2005). <sup>13</sup> See 3 Appx 671 - 72.

2

## i. Ulterior Motive

Chan has tried desperately to explain her words about exacting revenge on Appellees. All of her attempts and excuses cannot change the fact that Chan admitted that her motive in this litigation was to wreak havoc on Appellees' bank accounts. Regardless of Chan's excuses, her actions show that she really has desired to cause Defendants to incur thousands in legal fees and costs trying to enforce the arbitration award. Her words do not show that she is fighting for social justice or a wrong. Her text clearly demonstrates that Chan was is purely motivated by pride. She even states that she needs to get KB homes to "work with [her] on [her] plan."<sup>44</sup> This was not a plan to achieve justice, it was a plan to cause Defendants financial ruin for daring to challenge Chan. Chan has asserted that the District Court case was necessary because she could not seek relief against KB Homes before the GLVAR. Of course, this was all part of the "plan," because the naming of KB Homes as a defendant is a complete farce! Chan granted KB Homes an open extension to answer the Complaint from the outset and to this day KB has never even answered the Complaint! Quite a plan indeed. Chan never intended to harm her business by actually going after KB Homes with a bogus claim, she knows doing so would greatly hinder her ability to ever do business with KB Homes again. The "plan" was simply to file this case in order to unnecessarily and

 $_{8}$  44 Appx 691 – 94.

vexatiously drive up the cost of litigation, as set forth in her email. Had she
actually desired justice, she would have also gone against the company who
allowed Wu to step in and allegedly take her sale.
If this is not a clear, ulterior motive, there is no such thing. Out of the
plaintiff's own mouth is an admission that she planned to drive up legal fees to
soothe her wounded ego and drive out a competitor in the Asian speaking

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